Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court

Electronically RECEIVED on 12/27/2019 on 2.45:54 PM

Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court

Electronically FILED on 12/27/2019 by Tayuan Ma, Deputy Clerk

S259850

 \mathbf{S}

STAY REQUESTED

Case Management Conference set for 1/30/20; Trial set for 6/29/20.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

PRESBYTERIAN CAMP AND CONFERENCE CENTERS, INC., Petitioner.

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SANTA BARBARA COUNTY,

Respondent.

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FORESTRY AND FIRE PROTECTION AND CHARLES E. COOK,

Real Parties in Interest.

ISSUES PRESENTED

Amendments in 1971 had the effect of removing the words "personally or through another" following the introductory phrase "[a]ny person" in Health and Safety Code section 13009, which creates the sole basis of liability for fire suppression costs under certain circumstances.¹ The phrase "[p]ersonally or through another" was not added to section 13009 in any later amendments

¹ All further references are to the Health and Safety Code, unless otherwise indicated.

and was not added to section 13009.1—which allows for the recovery of fire investigation costs—when it was enacted in 1984.

- 1. Can a person (corporate or natural) be vicariously responsible for fire suppression and investigation costs under sections 13009 and 13009.1 (in this case totaling more than \$12 million) when the person alleged to be liable neither performed, authorized, or ratified the allegedly negligent act that caused a wildfire, nor negligently failed to do something that would have prevented the fire from starting in the first place?
- 2. An irreconcilable conflict now exists between two Courts of Appeal that have interpreted the effect of the 1971 change to section 13009 and the later enacted section 13009.1. Only this court can resolve this disagreement. The Third District held in Department of Forestry & Fire Protection v. Howell (2017) 18 Cal.App.5th 154, 182 (*Howell*), that sections 13009 and 13009.1, as currently worded, do not permit vicarious liability for fire suppression and investigation costs on what would amount to a claim of respondent superior or vicarious liability. The Court of Appeal in this case, Presbyterian Camp and Conference Centers, Inc. v. Superior Court (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 148 (PCCC) (see pp. 35-61, post) rejected Howell as wrongly decided, expressly disagreeing with *Howell's* reasoning and conclusion. (See typed opn. 12-19; pp. 47-54, 60-61, post.) Which of these two published opinions is correct? We contend it is *Howell*.

INTRODUCTION

WHY REVIEW AND A STAY SHOULD BE GRANTED

California today confronts an unpreedented increase in the frequency and ferocity of wildfires. Such fires have caused substantial harm, including loss of life. Additionally, the fires have imposed huge costs on California's public agencies as they deploy their firefighting resources to contain the various infernos.² The issues presented for review are particularly important in light of these many recent, widespread, and tragically destructive California wildfires, and the substantial pending and anticipated future litigation regarding liability for the enormous cost of suppressing and investigating such fires.

The fire liability problem in California has been the subject of much debate in the Legislature, the courts, and the Public Utilities Commission almost since the creation of California. This Court recently heard oral argument on one aspect of the problem in *Scholes v. Lambirth Trucking Company* (review granted June 21, 2017, argued Dec. 4, 2019, S241825), which focused on the damages that an owner of injured trees may recover from a person

² By September 2018, California's fire agency had reportedly exhausted its annual budget of \$442.8 million and needed an additional \$234 million to continue fighting wildfires. (See Shoot, California's \$442 Million Fire Budget Is Exhausted—and Needs \$234 Million More to Keep Fighting (Sept. 6, 2018) Fortune https://fortune.com/2018/09/06/california-fire-2018-cost-insurance-claims/ [as of Dec. 19, 2019].) This followed total fire suppression spending of \$773 million in 2017. (*Ibid*.)

responsible for a fire. The Courts of Appeal are in conflict whether the "multiplier" provisions of Civil Code section 3346 apply to such a recovery, or whether section 13007 limits the claimant to actual damages. This Court granted review in *Scholes* to resolve that conflict.

The present case presents another aspect of fire liability, and another conflict in published Court of Appeal decisions for this Court to resolve. Public entities incur fire suppression costs as a public service funded by the taxpayers. Statutes identify who additionally may bear liability for fire suppression and investigation, but there is no common law right to recover such costs. (*Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at p. 176 ["At common law, there was no recovery of government-provided fire suppression costs; that recovery is purely a creature of statute"].) Sections 13009 and 13009.1 establish when such liability exits.

Relying on section 13009, plaintiff California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CalFire) commenced this action seeking to recover approximately \$12 million in fire suppression costs incurred fighting the 2016 "Sherpa" fire in Santa Barbara County.³ Citing *Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th 154, defendant Presbyterian Camp and Conference Centers, Inc. (PCCC) demurred to the complaint and petitioned for relief by writ when

CalFire also seeks to recover its investigative, reporting, and administrative expenses under section 13009.1, which the Legislature enacted in 1984. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, p. 35; typed opn. 11; p. 46, post.) The conditions for recovery under sections 13009 and 13009.1 are the same. (See *Howell*, supra, 18 Cal.App.5th at pp. 176-177.)

the trial court overruled the demurrer. In a published opinion, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's ruling that PCCC could be vicariously liable for CalFire's suppression costs based on the negligence of its alleged employee, codefendant Charles Cook, and expressly disagreed with the contrary holding in *Howell*. (Typed opn. 2, 8-11, 18-19; see pp. 37, 43-46, 53-54, 60-61, *post*.)

As originally enacted in 1931 and then codified in 1953, the liability under section 13009 (by its cross-reference to section 13007) originally extended to "[a]ny person who personally or through another" was responsible for negligently setting a fire, or allowing it to be set or to spread.⁴ (Section 13009, added by Stats. 1953, ch. 48, § 3, emphasis added; see pp. 68, 70, post.) The Legislature effectively deleted the emphasized language from section 13009 when it amended it in 1971, and removed the express reference to section 13007 and its description of who was liable. (See p. 72, post.) Nor did lawmakers reinsert this language or a substitute reference to "persons who personally or through another" in any subsequent amendments to section 13009 or when section 13009.1 was enacted in 1984 and subsequently amended.

In *Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at pages 175-182, the Third Appellate District held that the current versions of sections 13009 and 13009.1 do not impose on a person *vicarious liability* for fire suppression or investigation costs. A person will be liable for such costs if, but only if, the person negligently acts or fails to act

⁴ For the convenience of this court, copies of the five prior statutory enactments to which we refer in our discussion are attached as exhibits to this petition. (See pp. 62-72, *post*; Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.504(e)(1)(C).)

in the way the statute describes, or authorizes or ratifies conduct that will trigger the statutory liability. (*Ibid.*) In other words, there is a distinction drawn between a person's *direct responsibility* for conduct that warrants liability under the statute, and *vicarious responsibility* for such conduct by "another" actor under a theory of respondeat superior; the latter lies beyond the scope of sections 13009 and 13009.1.

In *PCCC*, *supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th 148, the court expressly created a conflict by holding, contrary to *Howell*, that a person may be vicariously liable for fire suppression and investigation costs because an employee or agent has engaged in negligent conduct. (Typed opn. 2, 8-11, 18-19; pp. 37, 43-46, 53-54, 60-61, *post*.)

Vicarious liability based on respondent superior is a common law policy that advances the goal of assuring that innocent tort victims are compensated for their property and personal losses. Implicit in that policy is that the employer or principal on whom the obligation to pay is imposed has personally done nothing wrong for which it bears direct responsibility. The liability is that of the employee or agent. For reasons of public policy favoring victim compensation, the state has determined that the employer or principal also should be answerable for another's conduct.

There is less justification for spreading liability in this way to a wholly innocent employer or principal when it comes to reimbursement for public expenditures to which the employer or principal has already contributed through its taxes. The common law policy justifications do not apply. There is no added benefit to those directly injured by any misconduct – which includes public

entities whose land has been affected. They have alternative means to recover their damages, including recovery under principles of respondent superior. The public policy choice concerning when a person should be liable for public expenditures such as fire suppression is one for the Legislature to make, and it reasonably has limited such liability to those directly responsible.

The words "or through another" in section 13007 and its 1931 predecessor statute originally signaled the potential for vicarious liability to compensate fire-injury victims for their losses. (See pp. 68, 70, post.) However, the effective removal of those words from section 13009, when the Legislature amended the statute in 1971 (see p. 72, post), and the failure to include those words from section 13009.1 when enacted in 1984, indicates that some form of direct responsibility is needed to justify recovery of public fire suppression and investigation costs. The scope of this liability is distinct from that for damages from a fire suffered by property owners and others, which continues to exist under section 13007. (See pp. 17-18, 21-24, 70, post.) This argument is further supported by other changes made to section 13009, which now goes into additional detail about those "persons" who made be held liable for costs. (See pp. 22-23, 72, post.)

There is a logical basis for the Legislature's decision to treat liability for reimbursement of the costs of suppression differently from the liability for the harm that fires cause. Through taxes, we all contribute to the public expense of fighting a wildfire in California, which can match or exceed the actual damage to property and persons. Public entities have the means to prepare

for and fund such efforts. And they typically may receive additional publicly funded resources should the actual costs exceed those budgeted. Fire protection is generally considered a basic governmental service of great importance. Other persons have no such available tools to provide the enormous fund that may be required.

The costs of suppression, like the fires themselves, are unpredictable, which may limit the availability of insurance and greatly increase its cost. Yet as the allegations in this case show, the trigger for a disastrous event covering vast areas of land can be what in normal conditions would be considered a minor mistake by an individual. If the event here occurred on a cool evening after the rains had started, any damage likely would be limited and confined. Fire suppression costs could create a liability out of all proportion to what a person could reasonably anticipate or insure against.

This Court should grant review to clarify the scope of California's statutory scheme for imposing liability on persons for the costs of suppressing and investigating fires. In particular, this court should resolve the conflict that now exists within the Courts of Appeal regarding whether a person may be *vicariously* liable for such costs, or whether a person must in some *direct* way be responsible for the fire before liability for suppression costs exists. To conserve judicial economy, this court also should stay further trial court proceedings until the conclusion of proceedings before this court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The laws governing civil liability for fires

The right of a public agency to recover fire suppression costs has its origin in a 1931 statute defining the civil liability for failure to control fire. (Stats. 1931, ch. 790, §§ 1-3, p. 1644 (Fire Liability Law); see pp. 67-68, *post.*). In pertinent part, the 1931 Fire Liability Law provided:

Section 1: "Any person who . . . [¶] [p]ersonally or through another" negligently set fire to, or allowed a fire to be set or to escape to, another's property, would be liable for the damages the fire caused to the other person.

Section 2: "Any person" who failed to exercise due diligence to prevent a fire burning on his property to escape to the property of another was likewise liable for the damages the fire caused.

Section 3: "The expenses of fighting such fires shall be a charge against any person made liable by this act for damages caused thereby."

Sections 1, 2, and 3 of the 1931 statute were codified, largely verbatim, in 1953 as, respectively, sections 13007, 13008, and 13009. (See pp. 69-70, *post.*)

Tracking the language of the 1931 statute, section 13007 (added by Stats. 1953, ch. 48, § 1; p. 70, post) provided—as it still does today—that "[a]ny person who personally or through another wilfully, negligently, or in violation of law, sets fire to, allows fire to be set to, or allows a fire kindled or attended by him to escape

to, the property of another, . . . is liable to the owner of such property for any damages to the property caused by the fire." The "any person" wording of section 13008 (added by Stats. 1953, ch. 48, § 2; p. 70, post) similarly echoed section 2 of the 1931 Fire Liability Law—in each case without the "personally or through another" language that exists in section 13007. Section 13008 still reads the same today.

Although its introductory sentence was worded differently, section 13009 (added by Stats. 1953, ch. 48, § 3; p. 70, post), had the same effect as section 3 of the 1931 Fire Liability Law. As relevant here, as enacted in 1953, the first sentence stated that "[t]he expenses of fighting any fires mentioned in Sections 13007 and 13008 are a charge against any person made liable by those sections for damages caused by such fires." (Section 13009, added by Stats. 1953, ch. 48, § 3, emphasis added; p. 70, post.) Furthermore, consistent with the 1931 statute, section 13009 as added provided that such a charge would constitute a debt of the person charged and be collectible in the same manner as in the case of a contract obligation. (Ibid.)

As a result of its cross-reference to section 13007, the liability for fire suppression costs under section 13009 as enacted in 1953 necessarily extended to any person who "personally or through another" was responsible for negligently setting a fire, or allowing it to be set or to spread. ⁵ (See pp. 21-22, 70, *post.*)

⁵ The quoted words have never been in section 13009. (*Howell*, supra, 18 Cal.App.5th at pp. 176-178.) However, by cross-referencing persons liable under section 13007 to describe who (continued...)

B. The 1971 amendments to Health and Safety Code section 13009

At issue here is the effect of the 1971 amendments to section 13009. (See pp. 71-72, *post.*)

In People v. Williams (1963) 222 Cal.App.2d 152, 155 (Williams), the court held that as worded in 1953, section 13009 did not authorize the recovery of fire suppression costs if the fire did not escape from the property of the person sought to be charged because such persons were not liable for damages under sections 13007 or 13008. To abrogate that result, the Legislature deleted the first sentence of section 13009 and substituted language borrowed—in part—from section 13007 to describe those who could be held liable for the costs of fighting the fire. As reworded, section 13009 (as amended by Stats. 1971, ch. 1202, § 1; p. 72, post) stated that "[a]ny person who negligently, or in violation of the law, sets a fire, allows a fire to be set, or allows a fire kindled or attended by him to escape onto any forest, range or nonresidential grass-covered land is liable for the expense of fighting the fire." Missing from the amended statute was the implication that the fire had to reach the property of another for liability to attach because it no longer relied on the liability as defined in its two sister statutes.

More pertinent to our case was that section 13009, as amended in 1971, omitted any reference to the phrase "personally or through another" to characterize who may be liable for fire

could be liable for fire suppression costs, the statute as enacted in 1953 effectively incorporated them by reference. (*Id.* at p. 178.)

suppression costs—language that continues to this day to exist in section 13007 to define who is liable for *damages* cause by certain man-made fires. (See pp. 22-24, 70, *post.*) Thus, although the Legislature now expressly incorporated language from the first sentence of section 13007, it similarly substituted the word "person" for the phrase "[a]ny person who personally or through another" in the beginning of the newly crafted sentence. ⁶ (*Ibid.*)

In *Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at pages 175-182, the Third District held that the 1971 changes to section 13009 eliminated vicarious liability for fire suppression costs.

C. The current conflict in the law

1. The incident

Presbyterian Camp and Conference Centers, Inc. is a religious corporation that owns various properties that it uses or makes available for conferences and other gatherings. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, pp. 21-22.) One of its properties, named Rancho la Sherpa (the Camp Property), is in an unincorporated area of the hills above Goleta, Santa Barbara County. (*Ibid.*; see typed opn. 2; p. 37, *post.*)

CalFire alleges in its complaint that at times relevant to this action, Charles Cook was overseeing the Camp Property as PCCC's employee or agent. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, p. 21; typed opn. 2-3; pp. 37-38, post.) On June 15, 2016, the cabin Cook occupied filled with smoke

⁶ In addition, the 1971 amendment to 13009 eliminated liability for the cost of suppressing and investigating fires when damages are recoverable under section 13008 but not section 13007. (See p. 23, *post.*)

when the fireplace chimney malfunctioned. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, pp. 20, 23; typed opn. 3; p. 38, post.) In an effort to control the smoky conditions, Cook removed a smoldering log from the fireplace and took it outside. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, p. 23; typed opn. 3; p. 38, post.) Burning embers from the log fell onto dry vegetation, which ignited what became known as the 7,500 acre Sherpa Fire. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, pp. 20, 23; typed opn. 3; p. 38, post.) He returned inside when he realized the effect of removing the log from the interior, but it was too late and his effort to stop the spreading fire were not effective.

2. The Second District expressly disagrees with *Howell*

CalFire alleges that it cost about \$12 million to suppress the Sherpa fire. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, p. 23; typed opn. 3; p. 38, *post.*) It seeks to recover those costs from PCCC and Cook pursuant to section 13009. (Vol. 1, exh. 3, p. 35; typed opn. 3; p. 38, *post.*)

PCCC demurred to CalFire's complaint, arguing that under the express holding of *Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at page 182, it could not be found vicariously liable for the costs of suppressing the fire triggered by Cook's careless removal of a smoldering log from a cabin fireplace to the outside. (Vol. 1, exhs. 4-6, pp. 37-59.) In its order overruling PCCC's demurrer, the trial court acknowledged *Howell*, but ruled that it was limited to its specific facts. (Vol. 1, exhs. 2, 8, pp. 16-18, 69-72; typed opn. 4; p. 39, *post*.)

PCCC petitioned the Second Appellate District, Division Six, for relief by writ. CalFire responded with a letter brief *supporting* PCCC's request for a decision on the merits of the issues PCCC

presented, recognizing the importance of settling this important issue. Faced with the parties' agreement that PCCC's writ petition deserved attention, the Second District issued an Order to Show Cause. We believe that the creation of a conflict further demonstrates the importance of the issue to all those potentially concerned.

The court here, in its published decision, expressly rejected the result and reasoning of *Howell*. (Typed opn. 2, 8-11, 18-19; see pp. 37, 43-46, 53-54, 60-61, *post*.) It held that, despite the 1971 amendments to section 13009, PCCC can be found vicariously liable for the fire suppression costs that CalFire incurred as a result PCCC's alleged employee's negligence. (Typed opn. 11, 19; pp. 46, 54, *post*.) The court made minor modifications to its opinion on PCCC's petition for rehearing, but left its holding and judgment intact. (See pp. 57-61, *post*.)

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. The Third District's *Howell* opinion correctly construed the 1971 amendments to section 13009 to preclude responsibility for fire suppression costs on a respondeat superior theory of vicarious liability.

In *Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at page 164, a timber purchaser hired Howell's Forest Harvesting (Howell Forest) to cut trees on land belonging to certain individuals. While working on the property, one of Howell Forest's employees struck a rock with a bulldozer, which caused a superheated metal fragment to splinter off and ignite surrounding vegetation. (*Ibid.*) The fire

spread when Howell Forest's employees neglected to timely complete a required inspection of the area where they had been working. (*Ibid.*)

Relying on section 13009, CalFire sued the landowners, their property manager, the purchaser of the timber, Howell Forest and its negligent employees for the costs of suppressing the fire. (*Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at pp. 162-163, 165.) The landowners, property manager, and purchaser of timber argued they could not be liable as a matter of law, and the trial court agreed. (*Id.* at pp. 165, 175-176.)

Looking to the 1971 amendments to section 13009, the Court of Appeal for the Third District agreed that no vicarious liability for fire suppression costs existed as a matter of law. (*Howell, supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at pp. 176-179.) The court noted that "Cal Fire's ability to recover its fire suppression costs is strictly limited to the recovery afforded by statute." (*Id.* at p. 176)

The court then observed that, as originally enacted in 1931 and then codified in 1953, a public agency could seek to recover fire suppression costs from the same people who would be liable for the damage that the fire caused. (*Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at p. 177.) Until 1971, the scope of potentially liable parties thus included "'any person *who acted personally or through another*'" set fire to, or allowed a fire to be set or to escape to, the property of another, as provided in section 13007.⁷ (*Id.* at pp. 177-179,

⁷ Persons potentially liable for fire suppression costs under section 13009 also included those liable for damages caused by a fire (no matter its origin) that they negligently allowed to escape (continued...)

emphasis added.) A "'person'" for this purpose included "'any person, firm, association, organization, partnership, business trust, corporation, limited liability company, or company,'" as provided by section 19. (*Id.* at p. 177.)

The *Howell* court correctly recognized that the 1971 amendments substantially changed section 13009. (*Howell, supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at p. 178.) In particular, the amendments eliminated the anomaly identified in *Williams, supra*, 222 Cal.App.2d at page 155, that a public agency had no right to recover the costs of suppressing a fire negligently set by persons on their own property in order to prevent the fire's escape to the properties of adjoining owners. (*Howell*, at p. 178.)

In addition, the Legislature's 1971 rewording of the first sentence of section 13009 removed the cross-references to persons liable for damages under sections 13007 and 13008 as the basis for recovering fire suppression costs. (*Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at pp. 177-178.) In place of the cross-references, the new first sentence said that "'[a]ny person who negligently, or in violation of the law, sets a fire, allows a fire to be set, or allows a fire kindled or attended by him to escape'" would be responsible for the costs of suppressing a fire. (*Id.* at p. 178.) This echoed the operative language of section 13007 regarding the conduct that would render

to other property under section 13008. (Stats. 1953, ch. 48, § 3; p. 70, post.) However, section 13008 was worded more narrowly than section 13007 in terms of the conduct that created liability, and it has, since its earliest form, lacked the above emphasized language found in section 1 of the 1931 Fire Liability Law and the 1953 enactment of section 13007 creating vicarious responsibility. (See Stats. 1953, ch. 48, §§ 1-2; p. 70, post.)

one liable under section 13009 but omitted was the phrase "personally or through another." (*Id.* at p. 177.) At the same time, it also eliminated any responsibility for suppression costs for persons who were nevertheless liable to pay damages solely under section 13008 for a fire (regardless of origin) that they negligently allowed to escape onto neighboring property. (*Id.* at pp. 177-178; accord, *People v. Southern Pacific Co.* (1983) 139 Cal.App.3d 627, 638 (*Southern Pacific*).)

Significant to the *Howell* court's decision, however, was that the 1971 amendments removed the phrase "'who personally or through another'" from the description in section 13009 of the persons who could be responsible for paying suppression costs. (*Howell*, *supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at p. 178, emphasis omitted.) The court held this change in the law precluded vicarious liability. (*Id.* at p. 179.) Section 13009 applied to "one who . . . through his *direct action* proximately cause[d] the fire." (*Id.* at p. 181, emphasis added; see *id.* at pp. 180-181; see also *ante*, pp. 17-18.)

In reaching this result, the *Howell* court adhered to well-established rules of statutory interpretation. It rejected CalFire's argument that the words "who personally or through another'" were mere surplusage, the absence of which in the current version of section 13009 could be ignored. (*Howell, supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at p. 179, emphasis omitted.) As the *Howell* court reasoned, "the presence of the language in section 13007, a similar statute on a related subject, and its omission from sections 13009 and 13009.1 is significant in ascertaining legislative intent from the statutes' language." (*Ibid.*)

Under CalFire's position, which the *Howell* court rejected, a person liable for damages caused by a fire pursuant to section 13007 would always also be liable for the costs of suppressing the fire pursuant to section 13009—even though the two statutes used significantly different language to specify when someone was liable. (*Howell*, supra, 18 Cal.App.5th at p. 179.) As *Howell* observed, it was not "incongruous that the Legislature may have afforded a longer reach in recovery efforts to an owner whose property was damaged than it afforded those who expended funds fighting or investigating the fire." (*Howell*, supra, 18 Cal.App.5th at p. 179, emphasis added.)

Supporting its result was the *Howell* court's observation that section 13009 clearly did not incorporate all aspects of the common law of negligence, such as the potential for liability based on negligent supervision, hiring, inspection, management and use of property, peculiar risk—or vicarious liability. (*Howell, supra*, 18 Cal.App.5th at pp. 175-176, 179-180, 182.) The court explained that the word "'negligently'" in the first sentence of the statute "is an adverb modifying three potential verb phrases: (1) sets a fire, (2) allows a fire to be set, or (3) allows a fire kindled or attended by him or her to escape." (*Id.* at p. 179.) Other theories of wrongdoing purportedly covered by the statute are "simply too attenuated a construction to be plausible." (*Id.* at pp. 179-180.)

⁸ Despite this analysis in *Howell*, the Second District erroneously claimed that *Howell* did not explain why the Legislature would treat liability under section 13009 differently from liability under section 13007. (Typed opn. 16-17; pp. 51-52, *post.*)

- II. The Second District's published decision here rejects the result and reasoning of *Howell*, thereby creating a conflict in the law that this Court should resolve.
 - A. The Second District mistakenly reasons that corporations can never be liable for fire suppression costs under *Howell*.

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