**In the Supreme Court of the State of California**

**PRESBYTERIAN CAMP AND CONFERENCE  
CENTERS, INC.,**

**Petitioner,**

**CASE NO. S259850**

**v.**

**THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SANTA  
BARBARA COUNTY,**

**Respondent,**

**CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FORESTRY  
AND FIRE PROTECTION and CHARLES E.  
COOK,**

**Real Parties in Interest.**

SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION SIX, CASE NO. B297195  
SANTA BARBARA SUPERIOR COURT—MAIN CASE NO. 18CV02968  
THE HONORABLE THOMAS P. ANDERLE, JUDGE

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

XAVIER BECERRA  
Attorney General of California  
JAMES MATTHEW RODRIQUEZ  
Chief Assistant Attorney General  
ROBERT W. BYRNE  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

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

## **I. REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW**

Proper interpretation of the statutes governing liability for wildfire-related costs present questions of law that are of statewide importance. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) California agencies incur hundreds of millions of dollars in costs annually to fight large and deadly wildfires. Those costs have grown over the past decade and will continue to mount as fires increase in number and severity.

Recognizing the danger such fires pose and the immense costs involved in fighting them, the Legislature enacted Health and Safety Code sections 13009 and 13009.1 and their predecessor statutes (collectively, the Fire Liability Laws). These laws help ensure that the costs of fire are not borne by the public but instead by those responsible. "Any person" who, either

“negligently” or in “violation of law,” sets a fire or allows a fire to be set or escape is liable for fire suppression and response costs. (Health & Saf. Code, §§ 13009, subd. (a), 13009.1, subd. (a).)<sup>1</sup> The Fire Liability Laws form a central part of the State’s fire prevention efforts because such cost shifting is “designed to stimulate precautionary measures aimed at preventing the starting and spreading of fire.” (*County of Ventura v. Southern Cal. Edison Co.* (1948) 85 Cal.App.2d 529, 539.)

In a published opinion, the Second District Court of Appeal reached what should be an unremarkable conclusion. It held that a corporate defendant is liable for costs incurred in fighting a fire started by its employee because the Fire Liability Laws encompass the established principle of “vicarious corporate liability.” (Petn. Exh. A at 37 [typed opn. at 2].) The court held that the statutes’ plain language authorizes recovery from any “person,” and the term “person” is statutorily defined to include a “corporation” and other entities. (*Id.* at 41-42 [typed opn. at 6-7].) Because corporations “necessarily act[] through agents”—such as their employees—the Fire Liability Laws necessarily contemplate that corporations are liable for fires started by their employee-agents. (*Ibid.* [quoting *Snukal v. Flightways Manufacturing, Inc.* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 754, 782].)

The Second District noted that vicarious liability was “deeply rooted” in the common law and codified in California Civil Code section 2338 long before the Fire Liability Laws were

---

<sup>1</sup> All statutory references are to the California Health and Safety Code unless otherwise stated.

enacted. (Petn. Exh. A at 42-43 [typed opn. at 7-8].) Applying well-established principles of statutory construction, it held that courts must “presume the Legislature did not intend to depart from these [common law and statutory] rules since sections 13009 and 13009.1 are silent on the issue of vicarious liability.” (*Id.* at 43 [typed opn. at 8].)

Petitioners relied heavily on a 1971 amendment to section 13009. That amendment was designed to abrogate a court decision denying cost recovery where the fire burned only the defendant’s own property. (*Id.* at 49-50 [typed opn. at 14-15].) The Legislature amended section 13009 to no longer incorporate sections 13007 and 13008 by reference, instead adding those statutes’ relevant language into section 13009. (*Id.* at 46-47, 49-50 [typed opn. at 11-12, 14-15].) Rejecting the reasoning of *Howell*, the court held that the presence of the phrase “personally or through another” in section 13007 and its absence from section 13008 and 13009 did not preclude corporate liability under those statutes based on employees’ acts. (*Ibid.*)

As the Second District explained, *Howell* erred in construing the 1971 amendment as an implied repeal of agent-based liability. Neither sections 13008 nor 13009 has ever included the phrase “personally or through another.” (*Id.* at 46-47 [typed opn. at 11-12].)<sup>2</sup> Adding the phrase “personally or through another” in the amended statutes was unnecessary in

---

<sup>2</sup> Petitioner acknowledges in a footnote that the phrase “personally or through another” has “never been in section 13009.” (Petn. at 16 n.5.)

1971 because, by that time, the Fire Liability Laws defined the term “person” to encompass corporations and other entities that can act only through others. (*Id.* at 50-51 [typed opn. at 15-16].) Given that the 1971 amendment was designed “to address a very specific problem”—cost recovery where a fire burned only the defendant’s property—it was “not surprising” that the amendment did not add language to address a problem that was not before it. (*Id.* at 50 [typed opn. at 15] [quoting *Apple, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 128, 146-147].) And, as the court observed, *Howell*’s interpretation cannot be reconciled with other sections of the fire liability chapter that lack the phrase “personally or through another” but nonetheless have been interpreted as providing for vicarious liability. (*Id.* at 42, 47-49 [typed opn. at 7, 12-14].)

If the Second District’s decision were the only precedent on agent-based liability, CAL FIRE would oppose further review. In CAL FIRE’s view, the decision is correct and sets clear and helpful precedent for the proper construction of the Fire Liability Laws. But this case does not stand alone, and it cannot on its own correct the confusion caused by *Howell*. The Court should grant review to resolve the tension between the Second District’s approach to employee- and agent-based liability taken in this case, and that of the Third District taken in *Howell*. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

In the decades leading to *Howell*, no court questioned that CAL FIRE—the state entity on the front line of fire protection and prevention—could recover its fire suppression and

investigation costs from corporations. But corporate defendants now cite *Howell* to claim that the Fire Liability Laws do not apply to them.<sup>3</sup> Even where CAL FIRE ultimately prevails, the *Howell* decision makes litigation more expensive, resulting in complicated motion practice and appeals. *Howell*'s undermining of the Fire Liability Laws comes at a time when agencies are least able to absorb these additional expenses; as Petitioner acknowledges, California “confronts an unprecedented increase in the frequency and ferocity of wildfires” that have “imposed huge costs on California’s public agencies.” (Petrn. at 9.)

Should the Court decline to grant review, it may be that, after years of litigation, the accumulated intermediate appellate decisions in this area will settle into a more predictable and workable body of law, distinguishing and relegating *Howell* to its facts. But such development will come at significant cost to parties, stakeholders, government agencies, and taxpayers. CAL FIRE therefore supports review in this case so that this Court may more expeditiously settle the law governing fire-cost liability.

---

<sup>3</sup> CAL FIRE petitioned for review of *Howell*, concerned about the mischief it would cause. This Court denied the petition after the defendants in *Howell* downplayed its significance by claiming “nowhere in the majority opinion is there any language that remotely holds that companies cannot be held vicariously liable for the acts of their employees through respondeat superior.” (Response to Petn. for Review, 2018 WL 871573, at \*23.) Now, as CAL FIRE feared, corporate defendants such as Petitioner argue *Howell* bars all recovery under a “respondeat superior theory.” (Petrn. at 20.)

## II. THE OPINION SHOULD REMAIN PRECEDENTIAL PENDING REVIEW

If review is granted, CAL FIRE requests that this Court order that the Second District's opinion remain precedential pending review, pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.1115(e). (See, e.g., *People v. Meraz* (2017) 215 Cal.Rptr.3d 3.)

Ordering the opinion to remain precedential is warranted for several reasons. First, the opinion provides trial courts with a far more reasoned and thorough analysis of the Fire Liability Laws than the limited discussion in *Howell* and, in particular, how those laws apply to corporate defendants held to answer for the actions or inactions of their employees. (See Petn. Exh. A at 39 [typed opn. 4].) Second, proper analysis of these statutes is especially important now that California wildfires have increased in number and intensity, resulting in numerous cases in which recovery of hundreds of millions of dollars is at stake. Any period of confusion may have serious economic consequences for the State. Third, allowing the Second District's decision to remain precedential keeps in place incentives for corporate responsibility and best practices for critical fire prevention measures.

## CONCLUSION

The Court should grant the petition for review and order the opinion below to remain precedential pending review.